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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. For one hundred years Plaintiffs and their predecessors-in-interest have used 

the word marks JOHNNIE WALKER and BLACK LABEL, as well as distinctive design marks, 

in interstate commerce for and in connection with their famous, award-winning JOHNNIE 

WALKER BLACK LABEL Scotch whisky.  Over the course of this history, Plaintiffs have sold 

millions of bottles of Scotch whisky bearing these marks (collectively. the “BLACK LABEL 

Marks”) in a bottle with distinctive, nonfunctional trade dress (the “BLACK LABEL Trade 

Dress”) in the United States, and have spent hundreds of millions of dollars advertising and 

promoting that whisky in connection with those marks and that trade dress in the United States.  

As a result, U.S. consumers have come to identify the BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK 

LABEL Trade Dress, depicted below, exclusively with Plaintiffs. 

 

The BLACK LABEL Trade Dress 
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2. Notwithstanding these facts, and indeed because of their fame and 

recognition, Defendants have attempted to trade upon the enormous goodwill associated with 

Plaintiffs’ BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress by selling and offering for 

sale a flavored water for dogs, depicted below (the “Infringing Product”), that makes trademark 

use of imitations of Plaintiffs’ BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress.   

 

The Infringing Product 

3. Despite Plaintiffs’ attempts to discuss their concerns, and their prior and 

superior rights in the BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress, with defendant 

Bark Vineyards, Defendants have refused to discontinue their use of their imitations of these 

marks and that trade dress.  Plaintiffs therefore are left with no alternative but to bring this action 

for trademark infringement, trade dress infringement, unfair competition, dilution, and related 

claims under federal and Connecticut statutory and common law, seeking injunctive relief to 
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prevent Defendants’ continued fostering of a false identification and association between 

Defendants and Plaintiffs, and thereby co-opting the goodwill and reputation of Plaintiffs’ 

famous and valuable trademark and trade dress rights. 

THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Diageo Brands B.V. is a private limited company organized and 

existing under the laws of the Netherlands with its principal place of business at Molenwerf 10-

12 Amsterdam, Netherlands 1014BG.  Diageo Brands B.V. is the owner of the BLACK LABEL 

Marks and the BLACK LABEL Trade Dress. 

5. Plaintiff Diageo Americas, Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under 

the laws of Delaware, with its principal place of business at 801 Main Avenue, Norwalk, 

Connecticut 06851.  Diageo Americas, Inc. is the exclusive U.S. licensee of the trademarks and 

trade dress at issue, and is the entity charged with marketing and distributing the JOHNNIE 

WALKER BLACK LABEL Scotch whisky product in the U.S. 

6. Upon information and belief, defendant Sophie Rose, LLC is a limited 

liability company organized and existing under the laws of Delaware, with its principal place of 

business at 27916 North 110th Place, Scottsdale, Arizona 85262.  Upon information and belief, 

Sophie Rose, LLC manufactures, distributes, advertises, promotes, offers for sale, and/or sells 

the Infringing Product. 

7. Upon information and belief, defendant Bark Vineyards is a division of 

Sophie Rose, LLC with its principal place of business at 14345 North 101st Street, Scottsdale, 

Arizona 85260.  Upon information and belief, Bark Vineyards manufactures, distributes, 

advertises, promotes, offers for sale, and/or sells the Infringing Product. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. Plaintiffs bring this action for federal trademark infringement in violation  

of Section 32(1) of the Trademark Act of 1946, as amended (the “Lanham Act”), 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1114(1); federal trade dress infringement in violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1125(a); federal unfair competition in violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1125(a); federal trademark dilution in violation of Section 43(c) of the Lanham Act,  

15 U.S.C. § 1125(c); unfair trade practices in violation of Section 42-110b of the Connecticut 

General Statutes; trademark infringement and unfair competition in violation of the common law 

of the State of Connecticut, and trademark dilution in violation of Section 35-11i(c)  of the 

Connecticut General Statutes.  

9. This Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1121(a) and 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a)-(b).  This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims 

asserted herein under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1338(b) and 1367(a). 

10. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants pursuant to Connecticut 

General Statutes Section 52-59b, in that, upon information and belief, Defendants are transacting 

business and committing tortious acts within the State of Connecticut by selling and offering to 

sell the Infringing Product in the State of Connecticut, including in retail stores in that state.  In 

addition, upon information and belief Defendants are committing tortious acts outside the State 

of Connecticut causing injury to Plaintiffs within the State of Connecticut, and Defendants 

regularly do or solicit business, or engage in other persistent courses of conduct, or derive 

substantial revenue from goods used or consumed or services rendered, in the State of 

Connecticut, or expect or reasonably should expect their acts to have consequences in the State 

of Connecticut and derive substantial revenue from interstate commerce. 

11. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)-(c). 
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THE BLACK LABEL MARKS AND BLACK LABEL TRADE DRESS 

12. JOHNNIE WALKER BLACK LABEL Scotch whisky and its associated 

trademarks and trade dress – the BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress –  

are enormously popular with relevant consumers.  Indeed, Plaintiffs and their predecessors-in-

interest have used certain BLACK LABEL Marks, including JOHNNIE WALKER and BLACK 

LABEL, in interstate commerce in connection with Scotch whisky since at least as early as 1909. 

13. The BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress have been 

used extensively throughout the United States, and the spirits sold under the BLACK LABEL 

Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress are considered brand leaders in the beverage alcohol 

industry.  The products are recognized as high quality products. 

14. JOHNNIE WALKER BLACK LABEL Scotch whisky has achieved 

significant market penetration, including in the United States, and is available nationally in 

virtually all outlets and customary channels of trade, including at liquor stores, supermarkets,  

and other retail outlets that distribute alcoholic beverages, as well as at restaurants and bars.  

15. Over the years Plaintiffs have spent hundreds of millions of dollars marketing 

and promoting their goods sold in connection with the BLACK LABEL Marks and the BLACK 

LABEL Trade Dress in the United States.   

16. Plaintiffs’ advertisements appear in a wide variety of media, including print, 

radio, television, billboards, and online, as well as point-of-sale promotions.   

17. The scope of recognition of Plaintiffs’ famous BLACK LABEL Marks and 

distinctive BLACK LABEL Trade Dress is evidenced by the media coverage, both industry-

specific and mass distribution, of the Scotch whisky sold under the BLACK LABEL Marks and 

BLACK LABEL Trade Dress, and Plaintiffs’ advertising and promotional efforts using the 

BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress.   
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18. Underscoring their strength, the BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL 

Trade Dress have been referenced or shown in many motion pictures shown in the United States, 

including such major films as Raiders of the Lost Ark, Blade Runner; The Ninth Gate; Charlie’s 

Angels; Lock, Stock and Two Smoking Barrels; Diva, and Four Weddings and a Funeral.  

19. The BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress are inherently 

distinctive as applied to alcoholic beverages, and do not describe any of the features or attributes 

of Scotch whisky.   

20. Plaintiffs and their predecessors also have exercised great care, skill and 

diligence in maintaining uniform standards of high quality in the making and selling of the 

BLACK LABEL Scotch whisky product.   

21. The BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress have for many 

years come to be recognized and relied on by the trade and the consuming public in the United 

States as identifying a distilled sprits product originating exclusively from the same source, and 

as distinguishing Plaintiffs’ BLACK LABEL Scotch whisky from the products of others.   

22. By virtue of the long, continuous, and exclusive use, as well as extensive 

advertising, promotion and sales in the United States for over one hundred years, Plaintiffs have 

developed fame, enormous goodwill, consumer recognition, and value in their BLACK LABEL 

Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress.   

23. Plaintiff Diageo Brands B.V. owns the following federal trademark 

registrations for the BLACK LABEL Marks: 

Registration 
Number 

Mark International 
Class 

Priority 
Date 

1,329,973 BLACK LABEL 033 1909 
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Registration 
Number 

Mark International 
Class 

Priority 
Date 

1,350,932 

           

033 1909 

2,558,080 JOHNNIE WALKER 033 1880 

3,048,569 

 

033 2002 

3,250,376 

 

033 2003 

 

Copies of the certificates for these federal trademark registrations are attached hereto as Exhibit 

1.  Moreover, Registration Nos. 1,329,973, 1,350,932 and 2,558,080 are incontestable pursuant 

to Section 15 of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1065.   

24. Plaintiffs’ rights in the BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade 

Dress also are well-established at common law. 

25. The BLACK LABEL Trade Dress, depicted on page 2 above, is distinctive 

and nonfunctional.  That trade dress includes the following combination of elements:  
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(1)  A transparent glass bottle with rectangular vertical sides tapering to a round neck;  

(2) A black bottle cap; and  

(3) Three black-and-gold labels:  

� Near the top of the bottle, an arched black label with a gold border, gold text,  

and a centered coat of arms,  

� In the middle of the bottle, a long rectangular black label with gold borders, 

positioned diagonally from the lower left to the upper right of the face of the 

bottle, and extending to the left and right sides of the bottle, with black text in the 

gold portion of the label and three prominent lines of gold text in the black 

portion of the label: respectively,  

*  Capital letters in a sans-serif font, interrupted by a centered, 

stylized depiction of a striding man in a jacket and boots, carrying a cane 

and wearing a high-crowned, wide brimmed hat,  

*  Capital letters in a serif font, and  

*  Capitalized words (a mix of capital and lower-case letters) in a 

cursive font; and 

� Near the bottom of the bottle, a long horizontal rectangular gold label extending 

to the left and right sides of the bottle, with (i) a horizontal black band toward the 

bottom of the label, (ii) black text on the gold portion of the label, (iii) gold text 

on the black portion of the label, and (iv) a gold-bordered black rectangle, 

centered and extending above the top of the remainder of the label, in which is a 

large number 12 (signifying the age of the whiskey). 
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UNLAWFUL CONDUCT BY DEFENDANTS 

26. Upon information and belief, Defendants long have been aware of the vast 

and valuable goodwill and reputation represented and symbolized by the BLACK LABEL Marks 

and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress.  Upon information and belief, Defendants also have long 

been aware that the BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress are and have 

been used by Plaintiffs and are recognized and relied upon by the public throughout the United 

States, including the State of Connecticut, as identifying various high-quality goods of Plaintiffs 

and its authorized licensees and distinguishing those goods from those of others.  Upon 

information and belief, notwithstanding this awareness, and in fact by reason thereof, Defendants 

are attempting to capitalize upon consumers’ favorable and widespread recognition of the 

BLACK LABEL Marks and the BLACK LABEL Trade Dress.   

27. Without Plaintiffs’ consent, long after Plaintiffs acquired and perfected their 

rights in the BLACK LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress, and long after Plaintiffs’ 

BLACK LABEL Marks became famous, Defendants commenced advertising, offering for sale, 

and, upon information and belief, selling the Infringing Product, which imitates the BLACK 

LABEL Marks and BLACK LABEL Trade Dress, in Connecticut and throughout the United 

States.  An excerpt from an October 24, 2008 <petsugar.com> article noting the similarities 

between the Infringing Product and Plaintiffs’ JOHNNIE WALKER BLACK LABEL Scotch 

whisky, entitled “Johnnie Walker Black Label or Johnnie Barker Black Lab?” is attached hereto 

as Exhibit 2. 

28. Defendants maintain a website at <barkvineyards.com> for the promotion and 

sale of the Infringing Product and their other products.  On that website consumers, including 

consumers in the State of Connecticut, can purchase the Infringing Product.  Moreover, that 

website lists various retail stores in the State of Connecticut where Defendants’ products, 
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including upon information and belief the Infringing Product, may be purchased.  Copies of 

pages from Defendants’ website depicting the Infringing Product and listing retailers for their 

products in the State of Connecticut are attached as Exhibit 3.   

29. Defendants’ unlawful conduct is causing immediate and irreparable injury to 

Plaintiffs, and will continue to both damage Plaintiffs and deceive the public unless enjoined by 

this Court.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law for this unlawful conduct. 

30. Defendants’ unlawful conduct has been intentional, willful, and in bad faith. 

COUNT I – FEDERAL TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT 

31. Plaintiffs hereby reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations of 

paragraphs 1 through 30 of this Complaint. 

32. Defendants have, without the consent of Plaintiffs, used in commerce marks 

incorporating or imitating Diageo Brands B.V.’s registered BLACK LABEL Marks in 

connection with the sale, offering for sale, distribution, and advertising of goods on or in 

connection with which such use is likely to cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive. 

33. Defendants have, without the consent of Plaintiffs, used in commerce marks 

incorporating or imitating Diageo Brands B.V.’s registered BLACK LABEL Marks and applied 

such marks to labels, signs, prints, packages, wrappers, receptacles and advertisements intended 

to be used in commerce upon or in connection with the sale, offering for sale, distribution and 

advertising of goods or services on or in connection with which such use is likely to cause 

confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive. 

34. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute trademark infringement in 

violation of Section 32(1) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1). 

35. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have been intentional, willful and in bad 

faith. 
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36. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have caused, and are causing, great and 

irreparable harm to Plaintiffs and, unless permanently restrained by this Court, said irreparable 

injury will continue.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT II – FEDERAL COMMON LAW TRADE DRESS INFRINGEMENT 

37. Plaintiffs hereby reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations of 

paragraphs 1 through 36 of this Complaint. 

38. Plaintiffs’ BLACK LABEL Trade Dress is nonfunctional, highly distinctive, 

acquired distinctiveness long before any of the unlawful conduct of Defendants complained of 

herein, and is entitled to the broadest scope of protection. 

39. Defendants have, without the consent of Plaintiffs, used in commerce trade 

dress that imitates Plaintiffs’ BLACK LABEL Trade Dress in connection with the sale, offering 

for sale, distribution, and advertising of goods on or in connection with which such use is likely 

to cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive. 

40. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute common law trade dress 

infringement in violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

41. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have been intentional, willful and in bad 

faith. 

42. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have caused, and are causing, great and 

irreparable harm to Plaintiffs and, unless permanently restrained by this Court, said irreparable 

injury will continue.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT III – FEDERAL UNFAIR COMPETITION 

43. Plaintiffs hereby reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations of 

Paragraphs 1 through 42 of this Complaint. 
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44. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute use in commerce of words, terms, 

names, symbols and devices and combinations thereof; false designations of origin; false and 

misleading descriptions of fact; and false and misleading representations of fact that are likely to 

cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive as to the affiliation, connection, or association 

of Defendants with Plaintiffs, or as to the origin, sponsorship or approval of Defendants’ goods, 

services or other commercial activities by Plaintiffs. 

45. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute use in commerce of words, terms, 

names, symbols and devices and combinations thereof; false designations of origin; false and 

misleading descriptions of fact; and false and misleading representations of fact in commercial 

advertising or promotion that misrepresents the nature, characteristics or qualities of Defendants’ 

goods, services or other commercial activities. 

46. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute false designation of origin and 

false and misleading descriptions and representations in violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

47. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have been intentional, willful and in bad 

faith. 

48. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have caused, and are causing, great and 

irreparable harm to Plaintiff, and unless permanently restrained by this Court, said irreparable 

injury will continue.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT IV – FEDERAL DILUTION 

49. Plaintiffs hereby reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations of 

Paragraphs 1 through 48 of this Complaint. 
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50. Plaintiffs’ BLACK LABEL Marks are extraordinarily famous and highly 

distinctive, and became famous and highly distinctive long before any of the unlawful conduct of 

Defendants complained of herein. 

51. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute trademark uses in commerce that 

are likely to dilute the distinctive quality of the BLACK LABEL Marks, by both blurring and 

tarnishment, in violation of Section 43(c) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c). 

52. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have been intentional, willful and in bad 

faith. 

53. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have caused, and are causing, great and 

irreparable harm to Plaintiffs, and unless permanently restrained by this Court, said irreparable 

injury will continue.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT V – UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES UNDER CONNECTICUT LAW 

54. Plaintiffs hereby reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations of 

Paragraphs 1 through 53 of this Complaint. 

55. Defendants are selling the Infringing Product in the State of Connecticut. 

56. Defendants are engaging in unfair methods of competition and unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce.  More particularly, the 

aforesaid acts of Defendants offend public policy as it has been established by statutes, the 

common law, and/or otherwise; they are immoral, unethical, oppressive, and/or unscrupulous; 

and they cause substantial injury not only to Plaintiffs but to consumers. 

57. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute unfair trade practices in violation 

of Section 42-110b of the Connecticut General Statutes.   
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58. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have caused, and are causing, great and 

irreparable harm to Plaintiffs, and unless permanently restrained by this Court, said irreparable 

injury will continue.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

59. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unfair trade practices, 

Plaintiffs have suffered an ascertainable loss of money or property. 

60. Pursuant to Section 42-110g(c), Plaintiffs have or will mail copies of this 

Complaint to the Attorney General of the State of Connecticut and the Commissioner of 

Consumer Protection of the State of Connecticut. 

COUNT VI - COMMON LAW TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT 

61. Plaintiffs hereby reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations of 

Paragraphs 1 through 60 of this Complaint. 

62. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute use that it is likely to cause 

confusion as to the source of Defendants’ product or service. 

63. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute trademark infringement in 

violation of the common law of the state of Connecticut. 

64. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have caused, and are causing, great and 

irreparable harm to Plaintiff, and unless permanently restrained by this Court, said irreparable 

injury will continue.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT VII - COMMON LAW UNFAIR COMPETITION 

65. Plaintiffs hereby reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations of 

Paragraphs 1 through 64 of this Complaint. 

66. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute use that is likely to cause 

confusion as to the source of Defendants’ product or service. 
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67. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute unfair competition in violation of 

the common law of the state of Connecticut. 

68. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have caused, and are causing, great and 

irreparable harm to Plaintiffs, and unless permanently restrained by this Court, said irreparable 

injury will continue.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

COUNT VIII – DILUTION UNDER CONNECTICUT LAW 

69. Plaintiffs hereby reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations of 

Paragraphs 1 through 68 of this Complaint. 

70. Plaintiffs’ BLACK LABEL Marks are famous in the State of Connecticut. 

71. Defendants are selling the Infringing Product in the State of Connecticut, and 

commenced those sales of the Infringing Product after Plaintiff’s BLACK LABEL Marks 

became famous in the State of Connecticut. 

72. The aforesaid acts of Defendants constitute dilution in violation of Section 35-

11i(c) of the Connecticut General Statutes.   

73. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have caused, and are causing, great and 

irreparable harm to Plaintiffs, and unless permanently restrained by this Court, said irreparable 

injury will continue.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

74. The aforesaid acts of Defendants have caused, and are causing, great and 

irreparable harm to Plaintiffs, and unless permanently restrained by this Court, said irreparable 

injury will continue.  Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for a judgment in their favor and against 

Defendants ordering: 
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a. That Defendants, and each of their officers, directors, agents, servants, 

employees, representatives, licensees, distributors, and retailers, and those persons in active 

concert or participation with them or any of them, be permanently enjoined and restrained from: 

(1) Using on or in connection with the production, manufacture, advertising, 

promotion, displaying for sale, offering for sale, sale, or distribution of any products or services, 

or for any commercial purposes whatsoever, any of the BLACK LABEL Marks or the BLACK 

LABEL Trade Dress, or any colorable imitations thereof or anything confusingly similar thereto; 

(2) Representing by any means whatsoever, directly or indirectly, or doing 

any other acts or things calculated or likely to cause confusion or mistake, or to deceive 

consumers into believing that the Defendants’ goods or any related services are the goods or 

services of Plaintiffs, or that there is any affiliation, association, or connection between Plaintiffs 

or their goods or services and Defendants or their goods or services, and from otherwise unfairly 

competing with Plaintiffs; 

(3) Using any mark in a manner so as to dilute or be likely to dilute the 

distinctive quality of any of the BLACK LABEL Marks. 

b. That Defendants be directed to file with this Court and to serve upon 

Plaintiffs within thirty (30) days after service upon Defendants of this Court’s injunction issued 

in this action, a written report by Defendants under oath setting forth in detail the manner in 

which Defendants have complied with this injunction. 

c. That Defendants be required to recall from any and all channels of trade 

any and all advertising or promotional materials for the Infringing Products, or other infringing 

matter, and to take all necessary affirmative steps to dispel any false suggestion of a connection 








































